FILED  
Court of Appeals  
Division III  
State of Washington  
12/16/2021 2:46 PM

FILED  
SUPREME COURT  
STATE OF WASHINGTON  
12/16/2021  
BY ERIN L. LENNON  
CLERK

No. 100482-6

SUPREME COURT  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

---

STEVENS COUNTY,

Petitioner,

v.

STEVENS COUNTY SHERIFF'S DEPARTMENT, NORTHEAST  
WASHINGTON ALLIANCE COUNSELING SERVICE, and STATE OF  
WASHINGTON,

Respondents.

---

PETITION FOR REVIEW

---

Will M. Ferguson, WSBA 40978  
Attorney for Petitioner  
Special Deputy Prosecuting Attorney  
Office of the Stevens County Prosecuting Attorney  
215 S. Oak Street, Room #114  
Colville, WA 99114  
(509) 684-7500

## **A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER**

Pursuant to WA RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3), & (4), Petitioner Stevens County hereby respectfully requests review of a decision of the Washington State Court of Appeals, Division III.

## **B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION TO BE REVIEWED**

Petitioner seeks review of pages 1-15 of the Court of Appeals decision in Stevens County v. Stevens County Sheriff's Department, et al, No. 374670-III, filed on November 16, 2021 (hereinafter "Decision"). The dissenting opinion in the Decision should be adopted by this Court. A copy of the Decision is attached hereto as **Appendix A**.

## **C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

- I. Is the Decision in direct conflict with a decision of this Court?
- II. Does Stevens County's facial challenge to the Act present significant questions of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington and the United States Constitution?

III. Does Stevens County’s facial challenge to the Act present issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court?

#### **D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Firearm rights are not popular to uphold in Washington.

To ignore this Petition is to ignore the elephant in the room.

Stevens County presents a facial challenge to the constitutionality of the 2019 amendment to the Involuntary Treatment Act. The majority in the Decision does not appear to grasp the difference between an “as applied” challenge and a “facial” challenge and misapplies this Court’s decisions on justiciability.

On July 28, 2019, the State of Washington’s Legislature passed a law that amended the Involuntary Treatment Act (hereinafter “ITA”). The ITA is located within RCW 71.05 et. seq. Substitute Senate Bill 5181 (hereinafter the “Act”) amended RCW 9.41.047, added a new section to chapter 71.05 RCW, and added a new section to chapter 9.41 RCW. The Act commands Respondent Northeast Washington Alliance Counseling Service

(hereinafter “NEWACS”) to advise individuals detained under an involuntary commitment, that his or her right to possess a firearm is suspended for a period of six months, that the person must surrender all firearms in his or her possession and control, and that the person must surrender his or her concealed pistol license.

The Act requires Respondent Stevens County Sheriff (hereinafter “Sheriff”) to confiscate the person’s firearms and hold them until the period of suspension is over or the person is able to petition a superior court and obtain restoration of his or right to bear arms. The Act further requires that if the legal owner of the confiscated firearm or firearms does not come forward to claim ownership, the Sheriff is to dispose of the firearm or firearms. Finally, the Act utilizes the above-referenced local authorities to carry out its commandments. Petitioner Stevens County, being charged with overseeing enforcement of the Act at the local level, challenges the constitutionality of the Act.



The Act added RCW 7.05.182 to Chapter 71.05. Among other things, Section 182 deprives Washingtonians of a fundamental right without due process of law.

Stevens County filed suit on August 1, 2019, alleging that the Act violates procedural due process, the right to keep and bear arms, and the takings clauses of the Washington State Constitution and the United States Constitution. Clerks Papers at pages 1-8. In addition to a finding that the Act is unconstitutional, the Complaint sought to restrain NEWACS and the Sheriff from engaging in any and all conduct commanded, authorized, or encouraged by the Act. CP 7-8.

Stevens County served the Office of the Attorney General of Washington (hereinafter “State”) with a copy of the Summons and Complaint and the State entered his Notice of Appearance. CP 31-33. The Parties agreed to joinder and the Honorable Judge Steven Dixon, sitting as Stevens County Superior Court Judge (hereinafter the “Superior Court”), entered an Order on Joinder.

CP 34-40, 66-67. That same day, the Superior Court denied Stevens County's Motion for Restraining Order. CP 68-69.

On December 12, 2019, Stevens County filed its first Amended Complaint. CP 70-75. The State answered the first Amended Complaint, asserting *inter alia*, that the Act was constitutional. CP 78-84.

Stevens County moved for partial summary judgment on January 7, 2020. CP 85-86. Stevens County, in order to achieve complete adjudication of the case voluntarily dismissed its takings claim and thereby presented a motion for summary judgment on its two remaining claims. CP 174-85. Stevens County was granted permission to file its Second Amended Complaint for Declaratory Judgment. CP 223-24, 242-47.

The State moved to continue the summary judgment hearing. CP 123-32. Stevens County opposed the State's Motion to Continue. CP 162-67. The State opposed Stevens County's Motion for Summary Judgment and filed a cross-motion for summary judgment. CP 191-210.

The Superior Court heard oral argument on summary judgment on February 13, 2020. CP 222. After entertaining argument from all three Parties, the Superior Court denied Stevens County's motion for summary judgment and denied the State's cross-motion for summary judgment. CP 221-22.

Stevens County appealed to the Court of Appeals for reversal of the Superior Court's denial of summary judgment. The State filed a cross-motion for appeal.

On November 16, 2021, the Court of Appeals handed down its Opinion. On December 2, 2021, the Court of Appeals ordered that its Opinion be published. This Petition follows, seeking to redress from this Court.

## **E. ARGUMENT**

### **I. The majority Decision is in direct conflict with decisions of this Court on issues of justiciability.**

Pursuant to the Declaratory Judgment Act, Stevens County asserted a facial challenge to the constitutionality of the

Act. The majority held that Stevens County did not present a direct and substantial interest. Decision at 6.

To satisfy justiciability, the claimant must (1) present an actual, present, and existing dispute, or the mature seeds of one, as distinguished from a possible, dormant, hypothetical, speculative, or moot disagreement, (2) between parties having genuine and opposing interests, (3) involving direct and substantial interests, rather than potential, theoretical, abstract, or academic interests, and (4) of which a judicial determination will be final and conclusive. Diversified Industrial Development Corp. v. Ripley, 82 Wn.2d 811, 815, 514 P.2d 137 (1973).

Stevens County oversees the operations of NEWACS, the body tasked with implementing the Act, and the Stevens County Sheriff's Office, the law enforcement agency tasked with confiscating firearms.

To establish standing, a concept folded into justiciability, under the declaratory judgment act, a party must demonstrate that: (1) the interest it seeks to protect lies within the zone of

interests regulated by the ordinance in question, and (2) the party has suffered or will suffer an “injury in fact.” Lakehaven Water & Sewer District v. City of Federal Way, 195 Wn.2d 742, 769, 466 P.3d 213 (2020)<sup>1</sup>. The party seeking standing must meet both tests. Grant County Fire Protection District No. 5 v. City of Moses Lake, 150 Wn.2d 791, 802, 83 P.3d 419 (2004).

Furthermore, contrary to the holding of the majority, Stevens County met the Zone of Interest and Injury in Fact tests discussed in Lakehaven. To ascertain whether a party's interests are arguably within the zone regulated or protected by the statute in question, we look to the statute's purpose and operation. Washington State Housing Finance Commission v. National Homebuyers Fund, Inc., 193 Wn.2d 704 (2019). A party holds standing as being within the zone of interest, if the challenged

---

<sup>1</sup> The majority asserted, without support or exploration, that the “reasoning” in Kitsap County v. City of Bremerton, 46 Wash.2d 362, 281 P.2d 841 (1955) was upheld by this Court in Lakehaven, but not once was Kitsap ever mentioned in Lakehaven.

statute affects or impacts the party's interests. Benton County v. Zink, 191 Wn.App. 269, 278-79 (Div. III, 2015). Also, the party lies with the zone, if it holds an interest protected or regulated by the statute. Seattle School District No. 1 v. State, 90 Wn.2d 476, 493 (1978); Zink, 191 Wn.App. at 278. One lies within the zone if the statute specially affects the party as opposed to only affecting the party as a member of the general public. Kendall v. Douglas, Grant, Lincoln & Okanogan Counties Public Hospital District No. 6, 118 Wn.2d 1, 10 (1991); Heavens v. King County Rural Library District, 66 Wn.2d 558, 562, 404 P.2d 453 (1965).

The actions of the sheriff and his deputies expose Stevens County to liability.

To establish harm under the declaratory judgment act, a party must present a justiciable controversy based on allegations of substantial, not speculative or abstract, harm personal to the party. Grant County Fire Protection District No. 5, 150 Wn.2d at 802.

A person whose financial interests are impacted by the outcome of a declaratory judgment action holds standing. Seattle School District No. 1, 90 Wn.2d at 493. Injury in fact can include economic injury, but includes more than economic harm. Grant County Fire Protection District No. 5, 150 Wn.2d at 802. An inference of noneconomic injury is enough to establish injury for purposes of standing. See Washington State Housing Finance Commission, 193 Wn.2d at 717.

Finally, as pointed out by the dissent, the majority misapprehended this Court's holdings on representational standing. This Court has recognized that a party may possess standing in a representative capacity. Grant County Fire Protection District No. 5, 150 Wn.2d at 803; see also City of Seattle v. State, 103 Wash.2d 663, 669, 694, P.2d 641 (1985). An interest in the subject matter of the litigation sufficient to confer standing may be established either in a personal or representative capacity. Vovos v. Grant, 87 Wn.2d 697, 700, 555 P.2d 1343 (1976). "Municipalities acting on behalf of their

residents have standing to raise constitutional issues.” Grant County Fire Protection District No. 5, 150 Wn.2d at 803; see also City of Seattle, 103 Wn.2d at 669.

In City of Seattle, the City challenged the constitutionality, on the basis of the equal protection clause and the basis of special legislation, of two statutes governing annexation of territory by municipalities. The superior court dismissed the declaratory judgment action for lack of standing in the City because a City has no equal protection rights. On appeal, the State argued that, not only did the City lack standing to assert challenges based on the equal protection clause, but also because of its status as a political subdivision of the State. Because of its status as a political subdivision, the State contended, the City could not gain an adversary relationship to the State.

This Court held that the City possessed standing to pursue a claim under the constitutional prohibition against special legislation. This Court held that the City, despite not having any rights under the equal protection clause, possessed



representational standing to assert the equal protection rights of its citizens. The legislation impacted the fairness to the City's residents and constitutionality of the process annexation.

The majority in the Decision held contrary to this Court's precedent on justiciability.

**II. Stevens County's facial challenge to the Act presents significant questions of law, particularly due process and fundamental rights, under the Constitution of the State of Washington and the law under the Constitution of the United States.**

This case presents three fundamental issues of constitutional law: due process and fundamental rights. The Act violates the procedural due process rights of citizens because it denies fundamental rights without opportunity for hearing. The Act also permits the confiscation of firearms and the deprivation of a fundamental right, without any judicial process.

**i. This case presents questions of due process.**

"The United States Constitution guarantees that federal and state governments will not deprive an individual of 'life,

liberty, or property, without due process of law.” Amunrud v. Bd. of Appeals, 158 Wash.2d 208, 216, 143 P.3d 571, 574-75 (2006) (citing U.S. CONST. amends. V, XIV, § 1) (level of scrutiny abrogated by Yim v. City of Seattle, 194 Wash.2d 682, 451 P.3d 694 (2019) (Washington State law does not require application of heightened scrutiny to substantive due process challenges to laws regulating the use of property)). “The due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment confers both procedural and substantive protections.” Id.

When a state seeks to deprive a person of a protected interest, procedural due process requires that an individual receive notice of the deprivation and an opportunity to be heard to guard against erroneous deprivation. Id. (citing Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 348, 96 S.Ct. 893, 47 L.Ed.2d 18 (1976)). The opportunity to be heard must be at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner, appropriate to the case. Id. (internal quotation marks omitted). Furthermore, “[p]rocedural due process constrains governmental decision making that

deprives individuals of liberty or property interests within the meaning of the Due Process Clause.” State v. Karas, 108 Wash.App. 692, 699, 32 P.3d 1016, 1020 (Div. II, 2001) (citing Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 332, 96 S.Ct. 893, 47 L.Ed.2d 18 (1976)). “The fundamental requirement of due process is the opportunity to be heard ‘at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner.’” Id. (quoting Mathews, 424 U.S. at 333, 96 S.Ct. 893).

Determining what process is due in a given situation generally requires consideration of (1) the private interest involved, (2) the risk that the current procedures will erroneously deprive a party of that interest, and (3) the governmental interest involved.” Id. (citing Mathews, 424 U.S. at 335, 96 S.Ct. 893).

Washington Courts look also to the United States Constitution and federal caselaw, which, while not controlling, are given “great weight.” Olympic Forest Products, Inc. v. Chaussee Corp., 82 Wash.2d 418, 421-22, 511 P.2d 1002, 1005 (1973). “The fundamental requisites of due process are the

opportunity to be heard, and notice reasonably calculated, under all the circumstances, to apprise interested parties of the pendency of the action and afford them an opportunity to present their objections.” Id. (internal citations and quotations omitted). “The basic due process requirements of notice and a prior hearing are not limited to the protection of only certain types of property, for if the root principle of procedural due process is to be applied with objectivity, it cannot rest on such distinctions.” Id. at 428.

Boiled down, the test is that “[d]ue process requires, at a minimum, that absent a countervailing state interest of overriding significance, persons forced to settle their claims of right and duty through the judicial process must be given a meaningful opportunity to be heard.” Id.

If the right to notice and a hearing is to serve its full purpose, then, it is clear that it must be granted at a time when the deprivation can still be prevented . . . **No later hearing and no damage award can undo the fact that the arbitrary taking that was subject to the right of procedural due process has already occurred.** ‘[The Supreme Court] has not embraced the general proposition that a wrong may be done if it can be undone.’

Id. at 430 (quoting Stanley v. Illinois, 405 U.S. 645, 647, 92 S.Ct. 1208, 1210, 31 L.Ed.2d 551 (1972)) (emphasis added).

This Court in Olympic Forest reinforced its position on the universal right to procedural due process and how incredibly fundamental that right is:

The establishment of prompt efficacious procedures to achieve legitimate state ends is a proper state interest worthy of cognizance in constitutional adjudication. But the Constitution recognizes higher values than speed and efficiency. Indeed, one might fairly say of the Bill of Rights in general, and the Due Process Clause in particular, that they were designed to protect the fragile values of a vulnerable citizenry from the overbearing concern for efficiency and efficacy that may characterize praiseworthy government officials no less, and perhaps more, than mediocre ones.

Id. at 433 (quoting Stanley v. Illinois, 405 U.S. at 656).

RCW 71.05 distinguishes between two kinds of detentions: emergent and non-emergent. Non-emergent detentions are authorized and regulated by RCW 71.05.150. Emergent detentions are authorized and regulated by RCW 71.05.153. The Act, on the other hand, makes no distinction

between emergent and non-emergent detentions; an individual confined under the petition process or detention by a law enforcement officer is subject to the same deprivation of rights.

Whether the individual is taken into custody pursuant to RCW 71.05.150 or 153, there is no emergency to the 6-month deprivation of rights. There certainly is no emergency when the individual is taken into custody pursuant to a court order issued under Section 150, but the Act makes no such distinction and imposes the same 6-month post-release deprivation of rights. The State's interest is nearly nonexistent when we consider who the Act impacts. Whether the Act applies to those who are held for 3, 12, 24, or 72 hours, is irrelevant when quantifying the State's interest. The Act visits deprivations on all those temporarily detained or confined and then subsequently released prior to or at the expiration of 72 hours.

The State's interest can be summed up as the Attorney General listed it in his Answer to the Complaint: "public safety". CP 81. However, the fact that the individual is in a secured

mental health facility satisfies the State's interest of public safety. Once the individual is taken into custody, the emergent situation justifying denial of access to a firearm ceases. In other words, once the individual is taken out of the situation and into custody, the emergency, as far as access to a firearm is concerned, is over. If the situation is over, then there is no justification for further denial of a fundamental right upon judicial hearing and release. If the individual is, as a matter of law, not mentally ill, he is released and the State's interest is either nonexistent or is the same as its interest in any other citizen's possession of firearms.

Second, the Act carries none of the procedural safeguards of detention because the triggering event for deprivation of rights is the detention itself. The Act contains no pre-deprivation procedures by which a reviewing body may determine whether the individual used or threatened to use a firearm. In other words, there is no requirement for a correlation between the alleged mental illness and the potential for use of a firearm. In fact, there

are no procedures that take into account firearm use or possession, whatsoever.

Third, the State's interest is nearly nonexistent by the fact that the person is not released until there has been some determination that he or she no longer presents the likelihood of serious harm.

Finally, In re Detention of June Johnson, 179 Wash.App. 579, 322 P.3d 22 (Div. I, 2014) answered only whether the State could lawfully detain a person for a limited period of time in an emergent situation, without granting any pre-detention judicial process, not whether the State could later tack on penalties even after cessation of the emergency and release of the individual.

RCW 71.05.182 and RCW 9.41.047 make no distinction between those held for 72 hours for further evaluation and treatment and those held just long enough for pre-admittance evaluation (*id est* 3 hours). Thus, the deprivation of rights appears to be inflicted on the full spectrum of possibilities: those who are taken into custody, those who have been taken into



custody but have not yet been evaluated, those who have been evaluated within the 3-hour time requirement, those who have been evaluated within 3 hours and determined not to present a serious likelihood of harm, those who have been evaluated within 3 hours and need to be further evaluated for the full 72-hour detention, and those who have been evaluated and a determination has been made within 12 hours. Indeed, RCW 71.05.182(2) commands that the crisis responder give deprivation warnings to *all* individuals who have been detained under RCW 71.05.150 and 153, not just those who have been detained for all 72 hours or any portion of that 72 hours after the moment of custody.

The deprivation occurs at the time a person is detained, which need be based only on an allegation. The Act works to deprive an individual of his firearms and his rights based on as little as reasonable cause of a law enforcement officer; a standard that is not reviewable by a court. See In re Detention of V.B., 104

Wash.App. 953, 965 (Div. II, 2001) (citing RCW 71.05.150(4)(b)).

When taken into involuntary custody, either pursuant to a petition filed by NEWACS or by immediate seizure by the Sheriff's Office, the individual is afforded no opportunity to argue the confiscation of her firearms, she is afforded no opportunity to contest the suspension of her fundamental human right, and she faces the uncertainty of whether her right will be restored.

**i. This case presents issues pertaining to a fundamental right.**

The Act deprives Washingtonians of a fundamental right. The Act violates the Second Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 24 of the Washington State Constitution. Firearms are not just property, they are tools to preserve life, liberty, and property. The Act does not order the confiscation of vehicles, knives, baseball bats, chainsaws, over-the-counter medications, or any other potentially lethal items; it

specifically targets only one category of property. The only targeted category of property is constitutionally protected private property.

The Second Amendment and Article I, Section 24 contain explicit commands against federal and state action, respectively. The Second Amendment states: “A well regulated Militia, being necessary to the security of a free State, the right of the people to keep and bear arms, *shall not be infringed.*” Second Amendment to the United States Constitution (emphasis added).

The Washington Constitution states: “The right of the individual citizen to bear arms in defense of himself, or the state, *shall not be impaired*, but nothing in this section shall be construed as authorizing individuals or corporations to organize, maintain or employ an armed body of men.” Article I, Section 24 (emphasis added).

The right of the citizen to keep and bear arms, “is not a right granted by the Constitution. Neither is it in any manner dependent upon that instrument for its existence. The second

amendment declares that it shall not be infringed....” D.C. v. Heller, 554 U.S. 570, 592, 128 S. Ct. 2783, 2797–98, 171 L. Ed. 2d 637 (2008) (quoting United States v. Cruikshank, 92 U.S. 542, 553, 23 L.Ed. 588 (1875)). “We start therefore with a strong presumption that the Second Amendment right is exercised individually and belongs to all Americans.” Id. at 581.

The Heller decision by the United States Supreme Court “...unquestionably recognized an individual right to bear arms and, in the process, rejected a collective right conditioned on militia service.” State v. Sieyes, 168 Wash.2d 276, 282, 225 P.3d 995 (2010).

The Act tells the formerly-confined individual that while she is no longer mentally ill as a matter of law sufficient to continue to hold her in confinement, the State can hold her property and deny her further acquisition of more property for what it deems to be a safe or sufficient amount of time.

The right to bear arms is fundamental. Sieyes, 168 Wash.2d at 287. “State interference with a fundamental right is

subject to strict scrutiny.” Amunrud, 158 Wash.2d at 220 (but see State v. Jorgenson, 179 Wash.2d 145, 312 P.3d 960 (2013) (applying intermediate scrutiny) (see also Yim v. City of Seattle, 194 Wash.2d 682, 451 P.3d 694 (2019) (holding that interference with a property interest does not necessarily command heightened scrutiny)).

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