FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/18/2022 4:18 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 100482-6

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STEVENS COUNTY,

Petitioner,

v.

STEVENS COUNTY SHERIFF'S DEPARTMENT,
NORTHEAST WASHINGTON ALLIANCE COUNSELING
SERVICE, AND STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondents.

**RESPONDENT STATE OF WASHINGTON'S ANSWER
TO PETITIONER STEVENS COUNTY'S PETITION
FOR REVIEW**

ROBERT W. FERGUSON
Attorney General

JEFFREY C. GRANT, WSBA #11046
Assistant Attorney General
OID No. 91157
800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000
Seattle, WA 98104-3188
(206) 464-7744
Jeffrey.Grant@atg.wa.gov
*Attorney for Respondent
State of Washington*

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Under Settled Case Law, Stevens County Failed to Present a Justiciable Controversy

Relying on this Court’s precedent, both new and old, the Court of Appeals reached the unremarkable conclusion that Stevens County failed to establish a justiciable controversy. The Court of Appeals decision is not in conflict with a decision of this Court, nor does the petition present a significant question of constitutional law or an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court.

It is well established that Washington courts “steadfastly adhere[.]” to the rule that declaratory judgment is available only where there is a “justiciable controversy.” *To-Ro Trade Shows v. Collins*, 144 Wn.2d 403, 411, 27 P.3d 1149 (2001) (quoting *Diversified Indus. Dev. Corp. v. Ripley*, 82 Wn.2d 811, 814–15,

514 P.3d 137 (1973)). A justiciable controversy requires (1) “an actual, present and existing dispute, or the mature seeds of one . . . , (2) between parties having genuine and opposing interests, (3) which involves interests that much be direct and substantial . . . , and (4) a judicial determination of which will be final and conclusive.” *Id.* (quoting *Diversified Indus. Dev. Corp.*, 82 Wn.2d at 815).

In holding that Stevens County had not established a direct and substantial injury, the Court of Appeals correctly relied on this Court’s recent decision in *Lakehaven Water and Sewer District v. City of Federal Way*, 195 Wn.2d 742, 466 P.3d 213 (2020). In *Lakehaven*, this Court held that “[g]enerally, municipal corporations do not have rights under the equal protection or due process clauses of the state and federal constitutions.” *Id.* at 770. Stevens County’s complaint is based on the due process and right-to-bear-arms clauses of the state and federal constitutions. But those are individual rights; Stevens County has no such rights and, accordingly, cannot

demonstrate a “direct or substantial financial harm” to such a right, as required to establish a justiciable controversy. *To-Ro Trade Shows*, 144 Wn.2d at 414; *see also Kitsap County v. City of Bremerton*, 46 Wn.2d 362, 366, 281 P.2d 841 (1955) (“It is elementary that one attacking the validity of an act must show that its enforcement operates as an infringement on the complaining party’s constitutional rights.”).

Put differently, Stevens County is not within the “zone of interests to be protected or regulated by the statute or constitutional guarantee[s] in question.” *Lakehaven*, 195 Wn.2d at 769 (internal citations omitted). Stevens County is neither protected by the constitutional guarantees it invokes nor regulated by RCW 71.05.182, as Stevens County has no firearm rights that could be temporarily suspended. The Court of Appeals correctly applied these principles from this Court’s decisions in *Lakehaven* and *To-Ro Trade Shows*.

All of the cases cited by Stevens County are consistent with the Court of Appeals decision here. In *Benton County v.*

Zink, 191 Wn. App. 269, 279–80, 361 P.3d 801 (2015), the county had standing because it was within the zone of interests regulated by the Public Records Act. In *Seattle School District No. 1 of King County v. State*, 90 Wn.2d 476, 493–94, 585 P.2d 71 (1978), a school district had standing because it was within the zone of interests regulated by both the statutory school financing system and article IX, §§ 1 and 2 of the Washington Constitution. In both cases, the plaintiff was directly subject to regulation by the relevant statutes. By contrast, Stevens County is not directly regulated by RCW 71.05.182, as it has no firearms rights subject to regulation.³

Stevens County’s appeal to representational standing also does not establish a basis for review. Stevens County attempts to

³Stevens County also cites *Kendall v. Douglas, Grant, Lincoln and Okanogan Counties Public Hospital District No. 6*, 118 Wn.2d 1, 820 P.2d 497 (1991) and *Heavens v. King County Rural Library District*, 66 Wn.2d 558, 562, 404 P.2d 453 (1965). *Kendall* provides no support, as it held that the case was *not* justiciable due to the failure to join a necessary party. 118 Wn.2d at 11. *Heavens* addressed the UDJA in the context of ripeness, not the zone of interests. 66 Wn.2d at 562.

rely on alleged hypothetical injuries to persons not even named in its declaratory judgment action—those who *may be* detained under RCW 71.05.182. Third-party standing, however, is only available when the injured party is unable “to protect [their] own interests.” *Ludwig v. Wash. State Dep’t of Ret. Sys.*, 131 Wn. App. 379, 385, 127 P.3d 781 (2006). Stevens County fails to establish that those subject to RCW 71.05.182 will be unable to protect their own interests. In the absence of a personal injury or an injury to a third party that cannot protect its own interests, Stevens County’s dislike of or objection to RCW 71.05.182 is insufficient to establish standing.⁴

⁴Stevens County relies on *Grant County Fire Protection District No. 5 v. City of Moses Lake*, 150 Wn.2d 791, 83 P.3d 419 (2004), for the categorical proposition that “[m]unicipalities acting on behalf of their residents have standing to raise constitutional issues.” Pet. for Rev. at 10–11 (quoting *Grant County*, 150 Wn.2d at 803). But this is not categorically true, as illustrated by the fact that the Court in *Grant County* held that the fire districts did *not* have representational standing. 150 Wn.2d at 804.

When litigation involves parties who are only hypothetically implicated by a statute, it is neither a controversy nor is it ripe for review. *See To-Ro Trade Shows*, 144 Wn.2d at 415–16. In *To-Ro Trade Shows*, the Court refused to consider claims by an RV trade show sponsor that a statute’s licensing requirement burdened the First Amendment rights of unlicensed dealers because To-Ro could not show that there were any unlicensed dealers who were “waiting in the wings” to display their vehicles. *Id.* at 415. Because the “event at issue ha[d] not yet occurred” and “remain[ed] a matter of speculation,” the Court dismissed the matter for lack of a justiciable controversy. *Id.* at 415–16.

So, too, here. Stevens County has not identified a specific instance where a person detained pursuant to RCW 71.05.182 suffered an infringement, rendering its claims a matter of speculation.

B. An Advisory Opinion Is Not Warranted Under the Overriding Public Import Exception

The Court of Appeals also correctly rejected Stevens County’s contention that it should issue an advisory opinion. *Stevens County*, 499 P.3d at 923–24. Stevens County provides no meaningful argument that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with any other decision; instead, it offers the conclusory assertion that the Court of Appeals decision is “patently absurd.” Pet. for Rev. at 26–27.

Advisory opinions to resolve hypothetical disputes are “rare occasions,” for example when the public’s interest in a resolution is “overwhelming,” a circumstance not present here. *To-Ro Trade Shows*, 144 Wn.2d at 416; *Diversified Indus. Dev. Corp.*, 82 Wn.2d at 814. Unlike here, cases that have applied this rare exception involve questions of government structure, legislative process, or election integrity. *See, e.g., City of Seattle v. State*, 103 Wn.2d 663, 668, 694 P.2d 641 (1985) (addressing statute governing municipal annexation of territory); *State ex rel.*

Distilled Spirits Inst., Inc. v. Kinnear, 80 Wn.2d 175, 178, 492 P.2d 1012 (1972) (addressing constitutional provision limiting legislative session); *State ex rel. O’Connell v. Dubuque*, 68 Wn.2d 553, 559, 413 P.2d 972 (1966) (addressing eligibility of legislators to run for re-election). In this case, no such question is presented.

An alleged impairment of constitutional rights does not necessarily render the allegation one of overwhelming public interest. In *To-Ro Trade Shows*, for example, the Court declined to apply this exception even though To-Ro alleged infringement of its First Amendment rights. 144 Wn.2d at 416–17; *see also Walker v. Munro*, 124 Wn.2d 402, 879 P.2d 920 (1994) (declining to apply the public importance exception when both constitutional claims were involved); *League of Educ. Voters v. State*, 176 Wn.2d 808, 820, 295 P.3d 743 (2013) (same). Stevens County’s constitutional challenge does not merit an exception to the well-established doctrine of justiciability.

C. The Petition Does Not Present a Significant Question of Constitutional Law or an Issue of Substantial Public Interest

Stevens County does not present a significant question of constitutional law. Because its claims are not justiciable, the constitutional questions are not actually presented. Even if they were presented, they would not be significant for two reasons. *First*, the standard applicable to facial challenges is an insuperable bar in this case. *Second*, the weight of authority strongly supports the constitutionality of RCW 71.05.182. Stevens County does not present even a *plausible* constitutional challenge, let alone a *significant* question of constitutional law.

Stevens County's facial constitutional challenge is implausible in light of the heightened standard applicable to facial challenges. That standard requires that a party establish that "there exists *no set of circumstances* in which the statute can constitutionally be applied." *Tunstall ex rel. Tunstall v. Bergeson*, 141 Wn.2d 201, 220, 5 P.3d 691 (2000) (quoting *In re Det. of Turay*, 139 Wn.2d 379, 417 n.27, 986 P.2d 790 (1999)).

It is not enough to allege that a statute might “be unconstitutional ‘as applied’ to the facts of a particular case.” *Id.* At least some circumstances will involve clearly constitutional applications of RCW 71.05.182, such as those involving the threatened use of a firearm to harm one’s self or others that results in detention pursuant to court order under RCW 71.05.150. These circumstances, standing alone, are sufficient to defeat Stevens County’s facial challenge.⁵

Stevens County’s constitutional claims are implausible for additional reasons as well. For one, it is well-established that similar procedural safeguards are sufficient to protect against an individual’s interest in physical liberty. *See In re Det. of June Johnson*, 179 Wn. App. 579, 588, 322 P.3d 22 (2014). Stevens County provides no argument as to why the right to possess firearms should receive greater procedural protections

⁵This does not, of course, preclude individuals subject to RCW 71.05.182 from bringing as-applied constitutional challenges.

than physical liberty. In addition, the intrusion on the right to bear arms is minimal. An individual's firearms right is automatically restored after six months, and a person can petition for restoration at any earlier date. Moreover, the public interest in public safety is overwhelming. *See Morris v. Blaker*, 118 Wn.2d 133, 150, 821 P.2d 482 (1992) (recognizing a “compelling state interest in the safety of the public . . .”).

Stevens County's assertion that the State's “interest is . . . nonexistent” or “nearly nonexistent” misunderstands the significance of the decision to no longer detain a person. Pet. for Rev. at 18, 19. A decision to no longer detain a person is *not* a decision that a person no longer has a mental disorder or that such a person will not present a likelihood of serious harm at a future date. Sadly, individuals sometimes relapse into substance abuse or their mental health condition deteriorates; while stabilized during detention, both of these circumstance sometimes occur after their release. To disregard these risks, given a prior

determination that such a person has posed a likelihood of serious harm, would be both unreasonable and irresponsible.

Stevens County's constitutional arguments are also implausible in light of the fact that laws like RCW 71.05.182 are increasingly common and have been repeatedly upheld. *See, e.g., People v. Jason K.*, 188 Cal. App. 4th 1545, 116 Cal. Rptr. 3d 443 (2010) (addressing California's version of the ITA, with its five year suspension of the right to bear arms for those subject to emergency detention); *Doe I v. Evanchick*, 355 F. Supp. 3d 197 (E.D. Pa. 2019) (upholding Pennsylvania's version of the ITA).

In short, Stevens County does not present any significant question of constitutional law nor any question that should be determined by this Court.

V. CONCLUSION

Stevens County has failed to satisfy any of the RAP 13.4(b) standards. This Court should deny review.

This document contains 2,771 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.